COA NO. 44077-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TYSON MAXWELL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Carol Murphy, Judge

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The evidence is insufficient to support the conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm.
2. The court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial during the jury selection process.
3. The court erroneously imposed a drug court fee as part of the judgment and sentence. CP 60.
4. The court erred when it found appellant has the current or future ability to pay legal financial obligations. CP 59.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Must appellant's conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm be reversed because the evidence is insufficient to show appellant possessed the firearm or that he acted as an accomplice to this crime?
2. The court conducted a portion of jury selection at a private sidebar proceeding at the clerk's station. Where the court did not analyze the requisite factors before doing so, did the procedure violate appellant's constitutional right to public trial?
3. Did the court exceed its statutory authority when it imposed a drug court fee where appellant did not participate in drug court?

4. Absent an inquiry into the appellant's individual circumstances, did the court err when it found the current or future ability to pay legal financial obligations?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

The State charged Tyson Maxwell with (1) first degree unlawful possession of a firearm (count I); (2) possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine) with intent to deliver (count II); (3) possession of a controlled substance (oxycodone) with intent to deliver (count III); (4) possession of a controlled substance (marijuana) with intent to deliver (count IV); (5) making a false or misleading statement to a law enforcement officer (count V); (6) unlawful use of drug paraphernalia (count VI); and (7) possession of a controlled substance (MDMA) with intent to deliver (count VII). CP 10-11; 2RP¹ 485-86.

A jury convicted on all counts. CP 50-56. The court sentenced Maxwell to 100 months total confinement. CP 61. This appeal timely follows. CP 68-79.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - 9/26/12 (voir dire); 2RP - three consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 9/26/12, 9/27/12 and 9/28/12; 3RP - 10/2/12.

2. Trial

A woman named Jisu Kim rented a hotel room at the Comfort Inn in Lacey for one night. 2RP 54, 56-57, 244, 302-33, 311. She checked in during the afternoon. 2RP 317. Kim said she was checking in with her boyfriend. 2RP 303. Maria Ruiz, the hotel manager, was shown a photograph of Anthony Banek at trial and said he looked similar to the person Kim identified as her boyfriend. 2RP 57, 80, 319, 322-23.

After check-in, Ruiz saw that man and another woman who had accompanied Kim moving things into the room. 2RP 303, 307-08. Ruiz recognized Tyson Maxwell as a man hanging around outside the hotel while the others moved their belongings into the room. 2RP 302, 308-09, 324-25.²

Kim went down to the front desk around 5:30 the next morning and asked for the return of her room deposit. 2RP 298. Kim said people were in the room that she did not know and she did not want to be responsible for them. 2RP 57.³ The night auditor returned the deposit. 2RP 298-99.

² Ruiz was certain Tyson Maxwell was not the man identified by Kim as her boyfriend. 2RP 308.

³ An officer testified at trial that Ruiz told him this upon his arrival at the scene. 2RP 57. Ruiz testified at trial that Kim said she had to leave the room because she had gotten into a fight with her boyfriend and he did not want her there. 2RP 298.

Later in the morning, Ruiz checked on the room intending to tell the people inside that they had to vacate because they did not rent the room. 2RP 299. Ruiz unsuccessfully attempted to awaken the two men inside. 2RP 58, 299. A maintenance man entered the room and yelled at them, but the men gave little to no response. 2RP 58, 300.

Ruiz called 911. 2RP 300. Police arrived at about 10 a.m. 2RP 56. Ruiz led the police to the hotel room, where officers knocked on the door and announced their presence. 2RP 59. Receiving no answer, officers entered the room using the manager's key. 2RP 59-60. Two men were inside, each sleeping on separate beds. 2RP 60, 79, 246. The officers shook the men awake. 2RP 60-61. The men seemed dazed. 2RP 61.

Drugs and drug paraphernalia were sitting on a table. 2RP 62-64. The two men, later identified as Maxwell and Banek, were handcuffed. 2RP 64. Maxwell, who had an outstanding warrant for his arrest, gave officers a false name. 2RP 65, 67-68, 92. Banek gave a false first name. 2RP 66-67, 252.

Maxwell told police that a female he met the night before took him back to her hotel room. 2RP 92, 253. He described her as a small Asian female, which matched Kim's general description. 2RP 213-14, 253, 319-20.

While officers detained Maxwell and Banek in the room and waited for judicial authorization to conduct a search, Maxwell attempted to conceal a wad of money underneath the pillow of the bed he was on. 2RP 93, 254-55, 281-82. Some \$20 bills were sticking out of his pants pocket. 2RP 93, 95. The total amount of money recovered was \$2001 in varying denominations, including a large number of \$20 bills. 2RP 98-100. Maxwell denied having anything in the room except the \$20 bills sticking out of his pocket. 2RP 92, 125, 253, 284. A hollow pen and piece of tinfoil were found next to the wad of money. 2RP 94-96, 257.

A marijuana pipe, a methamphetamine pipe, a baggie containing 1.5 grams of marijuana, a baggie containing .1 gram of crystal methamphetamine and MDMA pills were on a table next to Maxwell's bed. 2RP 62-63, 128-31, 142-44, 169, 172, 174, 223-24, 247-48 291-92. There was a burnt piece of aluminum foil near the pipe and a hollowed out pen. 2RP 62-64, 130. A hollow pen is used to ingest smoke from prescription pills heated on the tinfoil. 2RP 63-64, 98. A partially charred oxycodone tablet in tinfoil was also recovered. 2RP 148-49, 171, 224, 229, 259.

Inside a nightstand between the two beds, officers recovered several documents with prices, names and dates, which appeared to be pay-owe sheets used in drug dealing. 2RP 131, 133-42, 230-31. One of

the entries after the number "5" stated "cover Tys." 2RP 138. A knife was also in the nightstand. 2RP 131.

Police found a canister containing 14 oxycodone pills inside a pillowcase on Banek's bed. 2RP 144-45, 170, 225. A stolen laptop and four cell phones were also in the room. 2RP 129-30, 132, 156-57. A knife was found in Maxwell's pocket. 2RP 80.

A loaded .357 revolver was found underneath the mattress of Banek's bed. 2RP 145-46, 160, 225-26, 260. Police recovered this firearm while Maxwell and Banek were still in the room. 2RP 296. Three .357 bullets were in a backpack in a closet. 2RP 132, 232.

A jail recording of a phone conversation between Maxwell and Kim, which took place the day after the arrest, was admitted into evidence. 2RP 184-87, 210. The two talked about the previous day's events. 2RP 187-202. Kim told Maxwell that she left the room because he was being mean to her. 2RP 191.

At one point, Kim asked "what's gonna happen to you?" 2RP 191. Maxwell replied, "I don't really know" and went on to say "I got a pistol charge now (inaudible)." 2RP 191-92. Kim said, "I know they're charging you. I looked. I looked it (inaudible). But, like, it wasn't even yours, the gun. I mean, like they aren't even yours." 2RP 192. Maxwell replied, "I don't know." 2RP 192. Kim said, "What do you mean you

don't know? Do you even care?" 2RP 192. Maxwell replied "(inaudible) everything, all my shit was in that room. Do you know what happened to it?" 2RP 192. Kim said she called police because her stuff was in there and was told it was for evidence. 2RP 192. Maxwell said police only found some money on him. 2RP 200-01.

Maxwell told Kim that the gun found by the police was not under his bed. 2RP 196. When Kim referenced the unlawful possession of oxycodone and firearm possession charges, Maxwell replied, "Those weren't mine, neither." 2RP 197. Kim said "What?" 2RP 197. Maxwell then said "The too-nam. You know what that is? You remember what I told you?" 2RP 197. After Kim said she knew, Maxwell said "I still have my too-nam on me, right now." 2RP 197. An officer testified to his belief that "too-nam" was a reference to pills, although he did not know the meaning of that term. 2RP 212-13, 233.

In the recording, reference was made to "Jeanine" and "Lacey" as two people who were also in the hotel room but left before police arrived. 2RP 190-91, 194. At one point during the conversation, Kim said, "everybody was smoking in there." 2RP 199.

Banek testified at trial for the defense. 2RP 349-394. He had earlier pleaded guilty to offenses associated with events at the hotel. 2RP 350-52. Banek said he had known Maxwell for a few months. 2RP 356.

Maxwell was in a physical relationship with Kim at the time. 2RP 360. Kim was not Banek's girlfriend. 2RP 360-61. Maxwell had gone to the hotel with Banek, Kim and "Jennifer." 2RP 361. Kim and Jennifer rented the room because they had valid identification. 2RP 362. Banek and Kim each paid half to rent the room. 2RP 363.

According to Banek, Maxwell, Kim and Jennifer left in the afternoon and returned to the room at about one o'clock in the morning. 2RP 354, 364-65. They drank alcohol and passed out. 2RP 354, 368. The two women left later that morning. 2RP 354. Banek passed out from drugs and alcohol but woke up when police arrived. 2RP 354, 365, 368.

Banek insisted the drugs in the hotel room were his.⁴ 2RP 352-53. He acknowledged he was a drug dealer. 2RP 364, 368. He denied selling drugs with Maxwell. 2RP 386. Banek testified the gun was his. 2RP 353. He kept the gun concealed under the mattress. 2RP 355. He did not want anyone to know he had a gun in the room. 2RP 355. The shells were in his backpack. 2RP 355. Both Banek and Maxwell had previously been convicted of a serious offense. 2RP 296, 376.

⁴ Banek told police at the scene that none of the property in the room was his. 2RP 253.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE CONVICTION FOR UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF A FIREARM.

The State failed to prove Maxwell was guilty of the crime of first degree possession of a firearm either as a principal or as an accomplice. The evidence is insufficient to show Maxwell was guilty as a principal because the "possession" element of the crime was not proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The evidence is insufficient to show Maxwell was guilty as an accomplice because the evidence does not establish he knowingly aided Banek in committing this crime. The conviction must therefore be reversed and the charge dismissed with prejudice.

a. No Principal Liability.

Due process requires the State to prove all necessary facts of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); State v. Hundley, 126 Wn.2d 418, 421, 895 P.2d 403 (1995); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, after viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). In determining the sufficiency of evidence, existence of a fact

cannot rest upon guess, speculation, or conjecture. State v. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 892 (2006).

A person is guilty of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm if the person owns or has in his possession or control a firearm after having previously been convicted of a serious offense as defined by chapter 9.41 RCW. RCW 9.41.040(1)(a).

Possession can be actual or constructive. State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27, 29, 459 P.2d 400 (1969). Actual possession requires personal, physical custody. State v. George, 146 Wn. App. 906, 919-20, 193 P.3d 693 (2008). The evidence does not show Maxwell had actual possession of the gun. The gun was underneath the mattress of the bed on which Banek was lying. 2RP 145-46, 160, 225-26, 260.

The State therefore needed to prove Maxwell had constructive possession. Constructive possession means the defendant has dominion and control over the firearm. State v. Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. 895, 899, 282 P.3d 117 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1003 (2013). "The totality of the circumstances must provide substantial evidence for a fact finder to reasonably infer that the defendant had dominion and control." State v. Enlow, 143 Wn. App. 463, 469, 178 P.3d 366 (2008).

Maxwell was in proximity to the gun found underneath Banek's bed mattress insofar as it was a small, standard-sized hotel room. 2RP 62.

But mere proximity to contraband is insufficient to show constructive possession. Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 899; State v. Spruell, 57 Wn. App. 383, 388, 788 P.2d 21 (1990).

Even mere proximity combined with evidence of momentary handling is insufficient to show constructive possession of contraband. State v. Lakotiy, 151 Wn. App. 699, 715, 214 P.3d 181, 189 (2009), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1026, 228 P.3d 19 (2010); see Spruell, 57 Wn. App. at 388-89 (sitting next to cocaine and momentary handling of cocaine insufficient to show possession); State v. Cote, 123 Wn. App. 546, 549, 96 P.3d 410 (2004) (passenger in vehicle where drugs found and fingerprints on jar containing drugs insufficient to show possession); Enlow, 143 Wn. App. at 469-70 (hiding in truck and fingerprints on items insufficient to show constructive possession of truck containing components of methamphetamine manufacture); Callahan, 77 Wn.2d at 30-31 (sitting next to drugs, earlier handling of drugs, and admitted possession of drug paraphernalia insufficient to show possession of drugs).

Here, there is no evidence that Maxwell even handled the gun found under the mattress. There was no evidence presented showing Maxwell's fingerprints on the gun and no testimony otherwise showed Maxwell touched the gun at any time.

Mere proximity to contraband and knowledge of its presence is insufficient to establish constructive possession. George, 146 Wn. App. at 923. In Chouinard, this Court held the evidence was insufficient to convict for firearm possession because the State demonstrated only the defendant's proximity to the weapon and his knowledge of its presence. Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 899, 903.

Here, the State did not even establish Maxwell's knowledge of the firearm's presence in the hotel room. There was no evidence that the gun was protruding from the underneath the bed mattress and was therefore visible to Maxwell before police recovered it. Banek testified he kept the gun hidden. 2RP 355. There was no testimony that Maxwell made any movements toward the gun while police were present or even looked in the direction where the gun was hidden.

Nor did the State prove Maxwell had dominion and control over the premises. "Courts have found sufficient evidence of constructive possession, and dominion and control, in cases in which the defendant was either the owner of the premises or the driver/owner of the vehicle where contraband was found." Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 899-900.

But here, Maxwell did not own the hotel room. He was not even the person who registered for the room. Kim was the renter. 2RP 54, 56-57, 244, 302-03, 311. And Banek was the one who paid half for the room.

2RP 363. Maxwell neither rented the room nor helped pay for it. He did not live there. The rental was for one night. 2RP 311. He had a temporary, transient connection to the premises.⁵ There was no evidence he even had a key to the room.

His status is more analogous to a temporary resident in a house or a passenger in a car, in which case he cannot be deemed to have dominion and control over the premises. See State v. Collins, 76 Wn. App. 496, 501, 886 P.2d 243 (temporary residence, personal possessions on the premises, and knowledge of the presence of the drug is insufficient to prove constructive possession), review denied, 126 Wn.2d 1016, 894 P.2d 565 (1995); State v. Galbert, 70 Wn. App. 721, 727-28, 855 P.2d 310 (1993) (temporary residence in house, defendant sleeping inside, and proximity to drugs insufficient to show dominion and control over premises or drugs); George, 146 Wn. App. at 920 (insufficient evidence to support a finding of dominion and control over vehicle where defendant was passenger, not driver or owner); Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 902 (same).

⁵ Officer Miller testified that, in his experience, people often transact drugs out of hotels because "[i]t's just very transient. You can go get a room, do your business, get out, and then get another room before you set up a pattern where people are reporting suspicious activity or a lot of trafficking or stuff like that." 2RP 238.

Looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence does not establish Maxwell possessed the firearm. He therefore cannot be guilty of the crime on a theory of principal liability.

b. No Accomplice Liability.

Moreover, the evidence is insufficient to support Maxwell's conviction of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree based on accomplice liability. A person is guilty of a crime as an accomplice if, "[w]ith knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he (i) solicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other person to commit it; or (ii) aids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it." RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a). An accomplice liability theory must therefore be based on facts showing Maxwell solicited, commanded, encouraged, requested, or aided Banek's unlawful possession of a gun. The record does not establish this necessary fact.

The State argued Maxwell and Banek acted in concert. 2RP 434-35. Evidence supports accomplice liability on the drug charges. But accomplice liability on the drug charges is no substitute for accomplice liability on the firearm charge. Those are separate analyses. There is no evidence showing Maxwell engaged in any action that could reasonably be construed as knowingly aiding or assisting Banek in possessing the gun. There is no evidence showing Maxwell even knew Banek had a gun.

Accomplice liability attaches only when a person acts with knowledge of the specific crime that is charged, rather than with knowledge of a different crime or generalized knowledge of criminal activity. State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 512-13, 14 P.3d 713 (2000). Stated another way, accomplice liability follows only where the State proves the accomplice has general knowledge of *the* specific crime the principal intends to commit, rather than general knowledge that the principal intended *a* crime. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 512-13. The Supreme Court has accordingly rejected the "in for a dime, in for a dollar" theory of complicity wherein accomplice liability strictly attaches for any and all crimes that follow. Id.; In re Pers. Restraint of Domingo, 155 Wn.2d 356, 365-66, 119 P.3d 816 (2005).

The evidence does not establish Maxwell knew Banek possessed a firearm let alone that Maxwell aided that crime. An accomplice must have specific knowledge of the general crime charged and aid in the planning or commission of that crime. State v. Israel, 113 Wn. App. 243, 288, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002), review denied, 149 Wn.2d 1013, 69 P.3d 874 (2003); State v. Trout, 125 Wn. App. 403, 410, 105 P.3d 69, review denied, 155 Wn.2d 1005, 122 P.3d 185 (2005).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence at most may have showed Banek's act of possessing a firearm was

foreseeable. One officer testified most drug dealers carry weapons to protect themselves. 2RP 68, 175. But it is not enough that Maxwell may have anticipated that Banek would have a gun. "[F]oreseeability is not sufficient to establish accomplice liability." Israel, 113 Wn. App. at 288. Maxwell may have conducted himself in a manner that ultimately led to Banek's foreseeable act of firearm possession, but the evidence is insufficient to convict him as an accomplice to that act.

Mere presence at the commission of the crime, even coupled with assent to the crime or knowledge that the presence will aid in the commission of the crime, is insufficient to show accomplice liability. State v. Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d 931, 933, 631 P.2d 951 (1981); State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn. App. 829, 863, 230 P.3d 245, review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1027, 241 P.3d 413 (2010). It must be established that Maxwell was ready to assist in the crime of unlawful firearm possession. Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d at 933. A person present at the scene cannot be deemed ready to assist a crime that he does not know exists. The State did not prove Maxwell had knowledge that he was aiding in the specific crime of unlawful firearm possession.

Convictions must be reversed for insufficient evidence where, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, no rational trier of fact could have found the elements of the crime established beyond a

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