IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TYSON MAXWELL

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Carol Murphy, Judge  
Cause No. 12-1-00619-2

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Carol La Verne  
Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W.  
Olympia, Washington 98502  
(360) 786-5540

**

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

In this case, the State provided circumstantial evidence similar to the type that was provided in Porter to support Maxwell's possession conviction. As discussed above, Officer Miller testified about dealers' practices and basic equipment. RP 48-53. A gun was part of this equipment, as were large sums of money, stolen property, drug paraphernalia and multiple cell phones. RP 66, 99 130, 156-157.

Maxwell was found with the latter four and the jury convicted him with possession with intent to deliver. RP 128-133, 100. Similar to the defendant's behavior in Porter, Maxwell tried to obstruct the work of a police officer by lying about his name. RP 65-66. Additionally similar to Porter, Maxwell was found with nearly \$2000 after apparently trying to remove that sum of money from his person while the police kept an eye on him. RP 93. Officer Miller's testimony regarding drug dealers' practices and equipment, considered with the paraphernalia and equipment that was found around Maxwell and the fact that Maxwell attempted to obstruct justice, are circumstances from which the jury could associate, like it did in Porter, Maxwell with the firearm and attribute possession to him. The physical placement of the firearm under a bed other than Maxwell's is not as significant as appellant emphasizes. Appellant's Opening Brief 10-11. At trial Banek affirmed: "there was a lot of activity going on in [the] hotel room that night[.] People were moving around, changing positions[.]"<sup>2</sup> RP 380-381. In light of Maxwell's complicity with Banek in a drug deal, furtive reaction to police, association with the trappings and equipment of a dealer and conviction of unlawful possession with intent to deliver controlled substance, the jury was permitted to conclude that Maxwell had

---

<sup>2</sup> Mr. Jackson asked Banek: "there was a lot of activity going on in [the] hotel room that night? People were moving around, changing positions?" Banek replied in the affirmative.

dominion and control over the firearm that lay just a few feet away when the police came in. The State provided sufficient evidence to support a conviction of illegal possession of a firearm as a principal.

2. The court did not violate Maxwell's right to a public trial when it conducted a portion of the jury selection process at the clerk's desk.

Near the end of jury selection, the judge announced that peremptory challenges would take place at the clerk's station, outside the hearing of the jury pool. Voir Dire RP 131-132. Peremptory challenges were exercised off the record and the jury was seated. RP Voir Dire 132. Now, Maxwell claims that this procedure violated his right to a public trial.<sup>3</sup> Appellant's Opening Brief at 25-29.

Whether a defendant's constitutional right to a public trial has been violated is a question of law that is subject to de novo review on direct appeal. State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167,173-74, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). The right to a public trial is guaranteed by both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article 1, section 10 of the Washington Constitution. Id. at 174. The remedy for a violation of the right to a public trial is reversal and remand for a new trial. State v. Wise, 148 Wn. App. 425, 433, 200 P.3d 266 (2009) *affirmed*, 176 Wn.2d 1, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). The right to a public trial is not absolute, but the courtroom may

---

<sup>3</sup> This issue is pending review in the Supreme Court in State v. William Smith, case no. 85809-8, set for oral argument in the fall term, 2013.

be closed only for the most unusual of circumstances. State v. Heath, 150 Wn. App. 121, 715, 206 P.3d 712 (2009). The right to open proceedings extends to jury selection and some pretrial motions, and a trial court must, before closing the courtroom, conduct the analysis required by State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

In Bone-Club, the court closed the courtroom during a pretrial suppression hearing, on the State's motion, because an undercover police officer was testifying and he feared public testimony would compromise his work. The Supreme Court found that this temporary, full closure of the courtroom had not been justified because the trial court failed to weigh the competing interests using a five-factor test derived from a series of prior cases, including Seattle Times v. Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982). Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d. at 258-59.

The right to a public trial is violated when jury selection is conducted in chambers rather than in an open courtroom without consideration of the Bone-Club factors. *See, e.g., Strobe*, 167 Wn.2d at 227 (Alexander, C.J. plurality opinion); 167 Wn.2d at 235-36 (Fairhurst, J., concurring). That analysis is not required, however, unless the public is "fully excluded from the proceedings within a courtroom," State v. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 92, 257 P.3d 624 (2011) citing to Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 257, or when jurors are questioned in chambers. Lormor, 172

Wn.2d at 92, citing to State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 146, 217 P.3d 321 (2009) and State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 224, 217 P.3d 310 (2009).

The court went on to define a closure:

[A] “closure” occurs when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may leave.

Lormor, 172 Wn.2d. at 93.

Maxwell tries to equate the sidebar with a full closure of the courtroom. Appellant’s Opening Brief at 21. But, just as in Lormor, where the defendant’s family was not excluded, the doors were not closed, the defendant was not prohibited from observing, nor was the communication done in chambers, the preemptory challenge here was done in open court where anyone could come in and observe. Id. at 92-93; Voir Dire RP 131-132. A sidebar is not a “closure” for purposes of the right to a fair trial.

Nor should it be. The harms associated with a closed trial have been identified as:

[T]he inability of the public to judge for itself and to reinforce by its presence the fairness of the process, . . . . the inability of the defendant’s family to contribute their knowledge or insight to the jury selection, and the inability of the venirepersons to see the interested individuals.

In re Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 812, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). The court's decision to perform peremptory challenges at the clerk's desk did not impair the public's ability to reinforce fairness, the family's ability to contribute or venirepersons' ability to see interested individuals. Not every interaction between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a public trial, or constitute a closure if closed to the public. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). To decide whether a particular process must be open to the general public, the Sublett court adopted the "experience and logic" test formulated by the United States Supreme Court in Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478 U.S. 1, 8, 106 S. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1986). Applying the test, the Sublett court held that no violation of the right to a public trial occurred when the court considered a jury question in chambers.

Here, Maxwell objects to the peremptory challenges done out of earshot and off the record done in open court, but he has not addressed the "experience and logic" test to show that those peremptory challenges must be open to the public. He fails to show that this was a closure that infringed on his right to a fair trial.



A sidebar is not a closure of the courtroom. Because it is not a closure, there is no requirement for the court to conduct a Bone-Club analysis. Maxwell does not suggest any reason under the experience and logic test for considering side bars to be a courtroom closure. The court did not violate Maxwell's right to a public trial when it conducted a portion of the jury selection process at the clerk's desk.

3. Maxwell waived his right to appeal the court's imposition of legal financial obligations and, if this court elects to consider them, the court properly considered Maxwell's ability to pay those obligations.

Maxwell contends that the court did not properly consider whether he was in fact able to meet the financial obligations imposed by the court. Appellant's Opening Brief at 29; CP 60. In fact, Maxwell waived his right to appeal these fees before collection of them by not objecting to them at sentencing. In the event that the court were to consider Maxwell's challenge, it would find that the fees were correctly assessed.

- a. Maxwell waived his right to challenge the court's imposition of financial obligations on appeal.

An improper award of costs following conviction does not, by itself, rise to the level of constitutional error such that it might be considered if raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Phillips, 65 Wn. App. 239, 243, 828 P.2d 42 (1992) (holding that a court's award of costs

without considering defendant's ability to pay, while unauthorized, could not be challenged on constitutional grounds until an attempt at enforced collection is made); see State v. Anderson, 58 Wn. App. 107, 110, 791 P.2d 547 (1990); RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 686 757 P.2d 492 (1988). For this reason, an appellant who does not object to a sentencing court's award of costs at trial is held to have waived his objection until the government attempts to enforce collection of the judgment. Id. at 244; State v. Snapp, 119 Wn. App. 614, 626 n.8, 82 P.3d 252, *review denied*, 152 Wn.2d 1028 (2004) (refusing to consider an appellant's challenge to costs imposed at judgment when the issue was not raised at sentencing).

Maxwell brings this issue and challenges the imposed costs for the first time on appeal. Maxwell did not object to the court's imposition of costs during sentencing. This was in spite of the fact that the judge solicited Maxwell's counsel's input on the State's recommended fees on two separate occasions. Sentencing Hearing RP 15, 20. On both occasions counsel failed to object or otherwise contest these fees. Id. For this reason, Maxwell waived his right to appeal the fees that the court assessed to him and the court is not required to consider his challenge.

- b. If the court chooses to consider Maxwell's challenge, it will find that the trial court properly considered his

ability to meet the financial obligations that the court had the discretion to impose.

Costs are authorized by statute. “[S]tatutes authorizing costs are in derogation of common law and should be strictly construed.” State v. Moon, 124 Wn. App. 190, 195, 100 P.3d 357 (2004). The following financial obligations were imposed on Maxwell: (i) a \$500 crime victim assessment, (ii) \$465.10 court costs including (iii) a \$200 criminal filing fee, (iv) a \$100 DNA collection fee, (v) a \$2000 Thurston County drug enforcement fund fee and (vi) a \$100 crime lab fee. CP 72.

i. Crime victim assessment.

A crime victim assessment is required by RCW 7.68.035.

When any person is found guilty in any superior court of having committed a crime, [other than certain motor vehicle crimes], there shall be imposed by the court upon such convicted person a penalty assessment. The assessment shall be in addition to any other penalty or fine imposed by law and shall be five hundred dollars for each case or cause of action that includes one or more convictions of a felony or gross misdemeanor and two hundred fifty dollars for any case or cause of action that includes convictions of only one or more misdemeanors.

RCW 7.68.035(1)(a). Subsequent sections of this statute direct the collection and disbursement of this money to assist victims of crime.

The victim assessment of \$500 is mandatory. State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 917, 829 P.2d 166 (1992); State v. Suttle, 61 Wn. App. 703, 714, 812 P.2d 119 (1991); State v. Eisenman, 62 Wn. App. 640, 646, 810

P.2d 55 (1991) (victim assessment is not a “cost”); State v. Bower, 64 Wn. App. 808, 812, 827 P.2d 308 (1992). As such, it follows that the defendant’s financial circumstances are irrelevant.

ii. Court costs.

Court costs are allowed by RCW 10.01.160 and 9.94A.760(1). “The court *may* require a defendant to pay costs.” RCW 10.01.160(1), emphasis added. Costs are limited to the expenses the State specifically incurred in prosecuting the defendant’s case. RCW 10.01.160(2). Because the term “costs” refers to expenses incurred by the State, restitution and victim assessments would not be included as “costs.” RCW 10.46.190 provides that a person convicted of a crime is liable for the costs of the proceedings against him, including a jury fee “as provided for in civil actions.” RCW 36.18.016(3)(b) allows a jury demand fee of \$250 for a jury of twelve in criminal cases, the same amount as allowed in RCW 36.18.016(3)(a) for civil cases. The court is directed to take into account the financial resources of the defendant and not order costs if the defendant cannot pay them. RCW 10.01.160(3); State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404, 267 P.3d 511 (2011), *review denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012). Bertrand did not address which, if any, of the legal financial obligations the court may impose are mandatory.

As noted above, the judge considered Maxwell's counsel's input on sentencing, including imposed financial obligations, on two separate occasions. Sentencing Hearing RP 15, 20. Maxwell's counsel opted not to address these obligations on both occasions. Sentencing Hearing RP 15, 20-21. In addition to acting as a waiver, counsel's silence provided a rebuttable presumption to the judge that Maxwell was able to meet his financial obligations because Maxwell's counsel, presumably, is the officer of the court most aware of Maxwell's financial situation. The court took into account Maxwell's ability to pay the court costs.

iii. Criminal filing fee.

Although the criminal filing fee is listed with court costs on the judgment and sentence, the \$200 filing fee is mandatory and cannot be waived.

RCW 36.18.020(2)(a) directs the clerk of the superior court to collect a \$200 filing fee for the initiation of most litigation. RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) provides:

Upon conviction or plea of guilty, upon failure to prosecute an appeal from a court of limited jurisdiction as provided by law, or upon affirmance of a conviction by a court of limited jurisdiction, a defendant in a criminal case shall be liable for a fee of two hundred dollars.

Because the court has no discretion regarding court costs, no consideration of Maxwell's ability to pay these costs was necessary.

iv. DNA collection fee.

A fee for DNA collection is required by RCW 43.43.7541: "Every sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 *must* include a fee of one hundred dollars." (Emphasis added.) All other financial obligations take precedence and the DNA collection fee is the last to be collected, but it is mandatory. The fee is a "court-ordered legal financial obligation as defined in RCW 9.94A.030." RCW 43.43.754. RCW 9.94A.030(29) provides, in part, that a "legal financial obligation" is an amount of money ordered by the court and may include, restitution, crime victims' compensation fees, court costs, drug funds, attorney fees, costs of defense, fines, and "any other financial obligation that is assessed to the offender as a result of a felony conviction."

The imposition of a \$100 DNA collection fee is mandatory, and has been since June 12, 2008. RCW 43.43.7541, State v. Thompson, 153 Wn. App. 325, 336, 338, 223 P.3d 1165 (2009). Therefore, [defendant's] ability to pay was irrelevant to the imposition of that amount.

v. Thurston County drug enforcement fund.

The Thurston County Drug enforcement fund assessment is authorized by RCW 9.94A.030(29), which includes fees paid to a county

or interlocal drug fund as a legal financial obligation. The court may impose legal financial obligations under 9.94A.760(1).

A defendant may challenge, for the first time on appeal, this assessment as an erroneous sentence. State v. Hunter, 102 Wn. App. 630, 634, 9 P.3d 872 (2000). If the defendant does challenge it, the drug fund assessment is to be based upon the costs of the investigation in the defendant's case and the State must substantiate the amount. Id.

Maxwell did not challenge the State's assessment of the drug fund fee itself, or of its application to him; rather, Maxwell challenges whether the court considered his financial ability able to pay those fees. Appellant's Opening Brief at 31. As discussed above, the court adequately considered whether or not Maxwell could meet the court's imposed burden.

vi. Crime lab fee.

The crime lab fee is required by RCW 43.43.690(1):

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